
House of Chan and Chung Kew Store, 207 Centre Street S, 1987.

Constructed in 1930, this building used to be occupied by the Chung Kew Store and the House of Chan 
Restaurant, one of the oldest Chinese-style restaurants in Calgary.  Most recently, the building was 
home of Lips KTV and Restaurant (a karaoke bar), a beauty salon and other retail and office spaces. It 

was completely destroyed by fire on January 25, 2010.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Hing Wah Imports Store, 312 Centre St. S, 1988.

During the 1970s, Hing Wah Imports was originally located in the Canton Block at 206A Centre Street S, 
and was owned and operated by Norman Ko.  It later moved to 310 Centre Street S, and also occupied 
312 Centre Street S as well sometime in the 1980s, which were the former locations of John Quan’s 
Drug store, and Paul Dofoo’s Home Confectionary.  By 1988, Hing Wah had moved out of the 310 loca-
tion, and now only occupies 312.
Photo credit:  Paul DoFoo

Shopping Centre, 300 Block, 303 Centre Street S, 1988.

This building housed the Calgary Chinese Elderly Citizens Association and various retail businesses were re-

placed by City Plaza in the early 1990’s.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

The Home Confectionary Store, 312 Centre St. S, circa 1970s.

The Home Confectionary was a store that sold groceries and general merchandise.  Owned by 
Luey DoFoo, the family-operated business ran from 1949 until 1983, when his son, Paul Do-
Foo, closed the store to retire at the age of seventy.  For more than twenty years while he looked  
after the store, Paul resided in the duplex connected to the back of the building.  He was one of the few bilin-
gual Chinese residents in the Chinatown area, and was very well regarded by his customers for his kindness, 
and assistance in matters that required his fluency in English.
Photo credit:  Paul DoFoo

310, 310A and 312, Centre Street S, 1972.

The soon-to-be opened Merchant Drugs store (310) in this photo was owned by business  
partners John Quan, Ken Fung, Wing Lew and Jack Kheong.  Shortly after, the name was 
changed to Centre Drugs, when Ken Fung left the business partnership.  Next to it, King’s  
Barbershop (310A) was owned be King Wong.  The Home Confectionery store next door (312) was 
owned by the DoFoo family, and Paul DoFoo operated it until 1983.
Photo Credit:  The City of Calgary, Corporate Records, Archives.  Joseph Lewko fonds.

Linda Mae’s Coffee Shop and Lotus Gardens Restaurant, 1972

Constructed in 1949, the building was owned by C.H. Poon, and he operated the Linda Mae’s Coffee 
Shop and Lotus Gardens Restaurant within.  Linda Mae’s was named after his daughter, and it became a 
mainstay in the Chinese Community during its time, where the young and old gathered for camaraderie, 
coffee and good Chinese or Western style food.  
Photo Credit:  The City of Calgary, Corporate Records, Archives.  Joseph Lewko fonds.

Centre Street South



Centre Street Bridge, 2008.

Construction for the Centre Street Bridge began in April of 1915, and completed in 1916.   
Spanning over the Bow River, the bridge is 396 metres in length, and 12.8 metres wide,  
connecting Downtown Calgary to Crescent Heights.  Chinatown is the first point of access to the down-
town area at the south of the bridge.  Guarding the north and south entrances on high pedestals are 
four large concrete lions modeled after those in London’s Trafalgar Square.  The original lions have since 
been removed and replaced with replicas.  The Centre Street Bridge is protected as a Municipal Historic 

Resource since 1992.
Photo Credit: Michael Sidorenko

Regency Palace Seafood Restaurant, 328 Centre Street S, 2010.

Located on the third level of the Dragon City Mall, the Regency Palace Seafood Restaurant is the largest 

Chinese restaurant in Calgary.  Owned by Gordon Yee, it has been in business since 1994.
Photo Credit:  Steven Fung

City Plaza, 303 Centre St. S, 1993.

Built in 1990, City Plaza has a food court and houses a variety of retail businesses and

restaurants.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Dragon City Mall, 328 Centre St SE, 1997.

Built in 1978 by businessman Sam Switzer, this was a commercial and office building called Central Place 
before it was converted into Dragon City Mall in the mid 1990s.  Dragon City Mall currently houses a variety 
of different establishments, including the Regency Palace Seafood Restaurant.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Grabba Jabba, 101-303 Centre St. S, 1998.

Owned and operated by Dana Lee, the granddaughter of C.H. Poon, Grabba Jabba sold coffee, coffee beans, 
and baked goods from 1993 to 2003 to its Downtown business

clientele, as well as the Chinatown community.  
Photo Credit: Paul DoFoo

Centre Street South



Silver Dragon Restaurant, 106 3rd Avenue SE, 1986.

The Silver Dragon Restaurant, owned by Jack Wong, has operated in Calgary since 1966 and originally 
conducted business in the Canton Block.  It moved to its current location at 106 3rd Avenue SE some-
time in the mid-1970s.  
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Royal Garden Restaurant and Chinatown Shopping Mall, 130 – 132, 3rd 
Avenue SE, 1986.

With the intricate murals of Lions from Taiwan flanking the front exterior, this building houses the China-
town Shopping Mall and formerly the Royal Garden Restaurant.  It was built sometime in 1977 by Roddy 
Mah and Jack Fern.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Thunderbird Travel Ltd. at 111 3rd Avenue SE, 1972.

One of the locations that Roddy Mah operated his Thunderbird Travel agency was at 111 3rd Avenue 
SE, next to his Jade Palace Restaurant.
Photo Credit:  The City of Calgary, Corporate Records, Archives.  Joseph Lewko fonds.

Friends in front of Thunderbird Travel, located in the Good Fortune Plaza 
on 3rd Avenue SE, circa 1980s.  

Owner, Roddy Mah (centre), Hornby and Nancy Jear (right), and friends from Vancouver (left).
Photo Credit:  Nancy Jear

North side of 3rd Avenue SE.  Includes Dr. Chow’s Building, Silver  
Dragon Restaurant, Chinese National League, Shon Yee Building and 
Chinatown Shopping Mall, 1984.
The Capital Centre has since replaced the Chow House in 1989.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

3rd Avenue Southeast



Good Fortune Plaza, 3rd Avenue SE, 1993.

Constructed in 1987, the Good Fortune Plaza is a modern commercial building that initially housed 
some prestigious businesses in Chinatown, which included the Hong Kong Bank of Canada (now known 
as HSBC Bank of Canada), Sing Tao Daily Newspaper (now located at 113 3rd Avenue SE) and Roddy 

Mah’s Thunderbird Travel Ltd.  
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Capital Centre, 100 3rd Avenue SE, 1997.

The Captial Centre was constructed in 1989, and provides space for various businesses.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Dr. Chow’s House, Centre Street and 3rd Avenue SE, 1988. 

One of the original houses in Chinatown, Dr. Raymond Chow was the last owner of this house 
where he operated his Family practice before it was torn down and replaced by the Capital  
Centre Building in 1989.  During the 1930s, it was owned by C.H. Poon, and housed his  
Nanking Restaurant.  It was then later purchased by Harry Lee, where he operated the Harry Lee Travel 
office, (which eventually became Thunderbird Travel) during the 1950s and 60s. 
Photo Credit:  Norma Quan

Shon Yee Building and Chinese Freemason’s Hung Mon Apartment 
Complex, 3rd Avenue SE, 1988.

The Shon Yee Building is owned by the Shon Yee Benevolent Association of Calgary, and  
houses various businesses.  The Hung Mon apartment complex next to it on the right is owned by the 
Chinese Freemasons, and also houses the Dat Coon Club.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Wah Ying Mansion, 122 3rd Avenue SE, 1988.

The Wah Ying Mansion is a Chinese Senior’s apartment  
complex.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

3rd Avenue Southeast

Harry Lee’s Thunderbird Travel Agency, circa 1950 – 60s.  

Established in 1949, Harry Lee’s Thunderbird Travel was the first travel agency in Chinatown.  Initially it 
was called Harry Lee Travel, and it served as an insurance, real estate and travel agency.  Later it was 
taken over by Roddy Mah, his wife Alice’s nephew.  It also had moved around to several locations within 
Chinatown, one of them being at the Good Fortune Plaza in the late 1980s.
Photo Credit:  Doug Lee



Hang Fung Produce and Warehouse, 123 3rd Avenue SE, 2010.

Built in 1982, this location was home to various restaurants, such as The Red Ruby Restaurant, 
before it was converted to a grocery store in the late 2000’s.  Hang Fung Foods now operates 
this additional store next to its first one at 119.

Photo Credit:  Steven Fung

Block view of 3rd Ave East from Centre Street S.  Includes Capital 
Centre, Silver Dragon Restaurant, Chinese National League, Shon Yee 
Building and Wah Ying Mansion, 1997.
 
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Jade Palace Restaurant, 103 3rd Avenue SE, circa early 1980s.

Constructed in 1900, this building housed the Golden Dragon, financed by Eddie Mah before it became 
the Jade Palace, which was owned by his son, Roddy Mah.  The Jade palace offered French-style res-
taurant service, and catered to mostly a corporate clientele.  It was among the first legally licensed es-

tablishments to serve liquor in Chinatown.
Photo Credit:  Michael Sidorenko

Hang Fung Foods, 119 3rd Avenue SE, 2010.

Constructed in 1975, this building has housed Hang Fung Foods for over twenty years.  About 
5,000 square feet, it once was both a barbeque restaurant and a grocery store.  The restaurant 
section has since been closed, and the entire space is now used as the grocery store.
Photo Credit:  Steven Fung

3rd Avenue Southeast



Five Harvest Building, 108 3rd Avenue SW, 2010.

A mixed commercial and residential building, the Five Harvest has ninety residential apartments above 

two commercial levels that provide various retail services and restaurants. 
Photo Credit:  Steven Fung

Tan’s Plaza, 114 3rd Avenue SW, 2010.

Constructed in 1990, Tan’s Plaza is a three story building owned by Diep Tan.  He operated 
his Tong Ky BBQ House on the second floor, which was renowned for its barbequed meat  
delicacies.  After his retirement in 2005, he sold the BBQ House in Chinatown, but continues to 
operate the second Tong Ky BBQ location on 17th Avenue SE.
Photo Credit:  Henry Lau

Lee Nin Mow’s Rooming House, 130 3rd Avenue SW, circa 1997.

Lee Nin Mow was in his mid-teens when he immigrated to Canada in 1912. He bought the house in 1916 
and turned it into a rooming house by adding more rooms in 1950.  He resided there until his death in 
1982.  It was the last of the original houses in the Chinatown area when it was torn down, and the prop-

erty has since become a parking lot.
Photo Credit:  June Quon

3rd Avenue Southwest



View east from 1st Street and 2nd Avenue SW, with Calgary  
Native Friendship Centre building at forefront, Bowside Manor behind,  
Chinese United Church and Oi Kwan Building, circa, 1980s.

Photo Credit:  Paul Dofoo

The Lung Family Residence located at 123 - 2nd Avenue SW, across 
from the Chinese United Church, circa 1950s.

The Lung Family relocated to Calgary from Cayley, Alberta in the 1940s.  They lived in the house during 
the 50s and 60s, and operated a store called Royal Grocery outside of Chinatown on 17th Avenue and 
7th Street, SW.  Mrs. Lung was an active member in the Chinese United Church.
Photo Credit:  Pat Frank 

Chinese Public School, Chinese United Church and the former  
Chinese Mission on 2nd Avenue SW, 1972.

The Chinese Public School was built in 1939, and operated until the early 1980s.  The Chinese United 
Church in the middle was built in 1954, while the former Chinese Mission next to it on the right was con-
structed in 1910.  In 1912, the first Chinese Branch of the YMCA in Canada was established at this Chi-
nese Mission.  Initially non-denominational, it eventually became a congregation of the United Church 
of Canada.
Photo Credit:  The City of Calgary, Corporate Records, Archives.  Joseph Lewko fonds.

Harmonious Centre, 116 2nd Avenue SW, circa 1980s.

The Harmonious Centre has housed a variety of tenants over the years from theaters and  
restaurants to a church on the top floor.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

2nd Avenue Southwest



Bowside Manor, 128 2nd Avenue SW, 1985.

Opened in 1980, Bowside Manor was built in co-operation among the Lee Association, the  
Chinese Public School, and the Chinatown Development Foundation to assist those of  
low-income. 
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Calgary Chinese United Church, 124 2nd Avenue SW, 2010.

Constructed in 1954, the Chinese United Church was an outgrowth of the former Chinese  
Mission that used to be next door, where the Oi Kwan Building now resides.  One of  
Chinatown’s first post-World War 2 buildings, it was designed by Maxwell Bates, an architect and also 
a well-known Calgary artist.  In 2008, a plan was proposed to the City of Calgary for Oi Kwan Place to 
construct a sixteen story senior citizen housing complex as an extension on the site of the existing Chi-

nese United Church, while retaining and using the front façade.
Photo Credit:  Steven Fung

Oi Kwan Place Building, 120, 2nd Avenue SW, circa early 1980s.

Opened in 1976, the Oi Kwan Place is an apartment complex for senior citizens.  The Oi 
Kwan Foundation is a charitable organization established in 1974, and grew out of the work 
of the Chinese United Church.  It replaced the Chinese Mission (the precursor of the Church) that  
formerly occupied the same location, which provided housing for new Chinese immigrants and seniors.  
Currently, a proposal has been put forth to the city of Calgary to extend the apartment complex to oc-

cupy the location of the Chinese United Church that is next to it.
Photo Credit:  Michael Sidorenko

Ng Tower Centre, 115 2nd Avenue SW, 1984.

Constructed sometime in the late 1970s or early 1980s, the Ng Tower Centre is a privately owned apart-
ment complex with one hundred and thirty-two units, two commercial levels on the second and main 
floors, and underground parking.  Built by Yuk Sum Ng, the tower is still owned and operated by his 
family today.  Yuk Sum Ng was also an artist, and had The Ng Art Gallery on the main floor.  He was very 
involved in the community, and was a founder for both the Chinese Art Association, and the Eng/Ng Af-
finity Association.  
photo credit: Paul DoFoo

2nd Avenue Southwest



Mah Society Apartment Building, 110 2nd Avenue SE, 1986.

The Mah Society had built this five-story apartment and retail complex in 1978, but then sold it later on.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

East End of Flat Iron Block, 128 2nd Avenue SE, 1986.

Believed to be designed after the Flat Iron Building in New York City, this wedge shaped  
building was built by Duncan Beveridge during the building boom of 1910-1913.  Chosen as an  
important part of Calgary’s third Chinatown, the Flat Iron Block had commercial spaces on the ground 
level with residences on the second floor.  This building was eventually replaced by the Hong Kong Plaza 
in 1994.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Chinese Pentecostal Church, 129 2nd Avenue SE, 1987.

Built in the late 1960s, the Chinese Pentecostal Church is the second church built in Chinatown. Today, 

it welcomes three congregations: English, Cantonese and Mandarin.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

John and Tenie Quan in front of Flat Iron Building, circa 1940s.

Constructed in 1911, the Flat Iron Building was one of the oldest buildings in Chinatown.  
John Quan had purchased the Flat Iron Block in 1945, but sold it in 1952.  During his owner-
ship, it was mostly a residential building, with three businesses on the main level – a tofu shop, a  
laundry service and a grocery store. 
Photo Credit:  Norma Quan

2nd Avenue SE, including the Chinese Pentecostal Church building 
 (foreground), Gee How Oak Tin Association Building (next to the church), 
the Ho Lem Block (4th building from the church in the background), 1984

Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

2nd Avenue SE from 1st Street SE, includes the Buddhist Study (right, 
foreground), Flat Iron Block (left), Mah Society Building (left, background) 
1984.

Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo
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Golden Inn Restaurant and Old Ho Lem Block, 107 – 111 2nd Avenue SE, 
1987.

Constructed in 1911, The Old Ho Lem Block was purchased by Ho Lem in 1917 to run his  
Calgary Knitting Mills company, which thrived until it had to close its doors during World War 
2.  A major supporter of the Chinese Nationalists, Ho Lem also sold to them the 109 portion of 
the block in 1919 to serve as headquarters.  In 1989, the 111 portion was converted into the  
Golden Happiness Plaza by then owner Cuong Chau, who operated the Golden Happiness  
Bakery housed within.  Located next to the Ho Lem Block at 107 is Golden Inn Restaurant, which has 
been in business since the early 1970s.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Broadview Centre, 110 2nd Avenue SE, 1998.

Formerly the Mah Society apartment and retail complex, the Broadview Centre was refaced in the 
late1990s and houses variety of retail shops on the main level.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Hong Kong Plaza, 128 2nd Avenue SE, 2010.

The nine-storey Hong Kong Plaza replaced the Flat Iron Building on February 14, 1991.  
Commercial businesses utilize the first two floors while residential condo units occupy the rest.  Situated 

next to the Bow River, it is thought to have good “feng shui”.
Photo Credit:  Steven Fung

Leong Chong How Tong Society Building, 119 2nd Avenue SE, 1987.

The Leong Chong How Tong Society constructed this building in 1982.  At the time when this  
photograph was taken, The Regal Restaurant on the main level was owned by Gordon Yee, and it ran 
from 1985 to 1993.  He then opened the Regency Palace Seafood Restaurant in the Dragon City Mall in 
1994.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Lung Kong Building, 115 2nd Avenue SE, 1987.

Owned by the Lung Kong Association, Calgary Chapter, they constructed this building in 1985 to serve 
as their headquarters, and to also offer commercial space to various businesses. Restaurants that have 
operated in the building include the Mayflower Restaurant, China Palace and most currently, Ho Won  
Restaurant.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Gee How Oak Tin Benevolent Association Building, 123 2nd Ave SE, 
1987.

Constructed in 1982 by the Gee How Oak Tin Benevolent Association, the second level is used as their 
office while the lower level is commercial space.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

2nd Avenue Southeast



207 1st Street SE, 1986.

Since its construction in 1978, a number of diverse businesses, from restaurants

to local community organizations, have occupied the building.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Calgary House of Buddhist Study, 201 1st Street SE, 1993.

Before it became a place for Buddhist study, this house was occupied Luey Chung Wah.  It was also 
abandoned for while, but was eventually torn down sometime in the mid 1990s
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

200 Block, 1st Street SE.

Constructed in 1980, this building adjacent to Chinatown’s Dragon City Mall has been the home of many 

local businesses.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

1st Street Southeast



Calgary Chinatown Senior’s Centre, 111 Riverfront Avenue SW, 1997.

The Calgary Chinatown Seniors’ Centre was built in the mid-1990s by the Calgary Chinese  
Elderly Citizens’ Association, a non-profit organization dedicated to helping seniors and new immigrants 

since 1985.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Wai Kwan Manor, 200 1st Street SW, 2010.

Opened in 1985, the Wai Kwan Manor is an apartment complex for senior  
citizens.  Fifteen floors above the ground, it is a high-rise building built by the Oi Kwan  

Foundation.  
Photo Credit:  Henry Lau

Calgary Chinese Cultural Centre, 197 1st Street SW, 1993.

Modeled after the famed Temple of Heaven in Beijing, the Calgary Chinese Cultural  
Centre opened its doors in 1992. The three-storey, 70,000-sq. ft. building is the focal point of  
community, educational, recreational and cultural activity in Chinatown. Led by Calgary  
businessman Victor Mah, the $10-million project was generously supported by Dr. Henry Fok (Hong 
Kong), the City of Calgary, provincial and federal governments, Mobil Oil Canada, Oxford Development 

Group Inc., and others.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

1st Street Southwest



Plan showing portions to be transferred of Lots 1, 2, & 3 in Block 7, 
Plan C, 1924.

A survey plan that is part of a Party Wall Agreement prepared by Allan Poyntz Patrick, an  
Alberta Land Surveyor on February 14, 1924.  This document accompanies the transfer of  
ownership from Wong Jan Way, who owned the Canton block at that time to a group of  
Chinese merchants, and their ownership was split into eight parcels (from A-H).  It appears that 
the joint owners gave the Power of Attorney to Luey Kheang and Wong Hoi Mun to execute this  
document.  Luey Kheang is also believed to have been among the group that first built the  
Canton Block in 1910.  He owned Parcel E (206 Centre Street S), while Wong Wo Sea, the wife of Wong Moo 

Wyin owned and resided in Parcel G (208 Centre Street S)
Photo Credit:  Thomas To

New China Restaurant, 2nd Floor of the Canton Block, circa 1960s.

The New China restaurant was purchased by C.H. Poon in 1945.  This was one of Mr. Poon’s successful 
and popular eateries in Calgary’s Chinatown.
Photo Credit:  Glenbow Archives NA-2645-52

Canton Block, 200 – 218 Centre Street S, 1986.

The Canton block is the first building that was constructed and owned by a group of  
Chinese men in 1910, to mark the third and current location of Calgary’s Chinatown.  The first  
Chinatown was established around 1890 on the corner of Centre Street S and 9th Avenue E, 
but by 1901, the Chinese population had significantly increased.  Further expansion for a larger  
Chinatown to meet their demands for goods and services was restricted, as adjacent lands were not  
available.  Naturally, a second Chinatown emerged around the first Chinese Mission that was built by 

Thomas Underwood along 10th Avenue and 1st Street SW.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

North section of the Canton Block, 200 – 206 Centre Street S, 1986.

The second Chinatown was forced to relocate again in 1910 when the Canadian Northern 
Railway included the construction of a hotel on the corner of 10th Avenue and 1st Street SW 
as part of the plan for a proposed route into the city.  As a result, property values drastically in-
creased, and the non-Chinese owners seized the opportunity to sell.  It was then that the group 
of Chinese men decided to purchase their own property, and finance the construction of the 
Canton Block.  Developed in three sections from 1910 – 1911, it is believed that the most  
northern part was first built by the Chinese.
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Middle section of the Canton Block, 204A – 210 Centre Street S, 1986.

According to the City of Calgary’s Building and Permit Registers, the building permit for 
the Canton Block was issued on October 1, 1910, with the owner listed as “Chinatown”, 
the class of building being “Stores and Apartments”.  The architect was J.B. Henderson, a  
prominent member of the Chinese Mission, while the builders were McDougall and Forester.  The  
estimated cost of the building was $17,000.00.  Over the years the Canton Block offered space 
for commercial, residential and social use, and continues to do so today, after a hundred years. 
Photo Credit:  Paul DoFoo

Canton Block


